#### No. 44842-4-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

VS.

#### RYAN DEE WHITAKER

Appellant

CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CLARK COUNTY

HON. ROBERT LEWIS, JUDGE

Roger A. Bennett

Attorney for Appellant

112 W. 11<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 200 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 713-3523 WSBA # 6536

> Steven W. Thayer Attorney for Appellant

112 W. 11<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 200 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 694-8290 WSBA # 7449

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Ryan Dee Whitaker (Appellant) seeks reversal of his convictions at bench trial in Clark County Superior Court, cause number 11-1-01948-9, for the crimes of:

Count 3 - Child Molestation in the First Degree, RCW 9A.44.083

Count 4 - Child Molestation in the First Degree, RCW 9A.44.083.

Appellant also seeks vacation of a Sexual Assault Protection Order entered at sentencing.

Appellant will file a Personal Restraint Petition to supplement the record in this matter, and requests consolidation thereof with this appeal.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

#### **Assignments of Error**

Assignment of Error Number 1: The Court erred in entering Finding of Fact number 1, for the reason that Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel on Counts 3 and 4, Child Molestation in the First Degree, in violation of his constitutional right to counsel, because his trial attorney failed to interview and subpoena crucial potential defense witnesses.

Assignment of Error Number 2: The Court erred in entering Finding of Fact number 2, for the reason that Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel on Count 3, Child Molestation in the First Degree, in violation of his constitutional right to counsel, because his trial attorney failed to interview and subpoena crucial potential defense witnesses.

Assignment of Error Number 3: The Court erred in entering Finding of Fact number 3, for the reason that Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel on Count 4, Child Molestation in the First Degree, in violation of his constitutional right to counsel, because his trial attorney failed to interview and subpoena crucial potential defense witnesses.

Assignment of Error Number 4: The Court erred in admitting the testimony of Danielle Wilcox, an unlicensed counselor who testified concerning common characteristics of abused children, that she believed the victim, and that the victim had suffered sexual abuse at the hands of the Appellant.

<u>Assignment of Error Number 5:</u> The Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel on Counts 3 and 4, Child Molestation in the First Degree, in violation of his constitutional right to counsel,

because his trial attorney failed to object to the testimony of Danielle Wilcox, an unlicensed counselor who testified concerning common characteristics of abused children, that she believed the victim, and that the victim had suffered sexual abuse at the hands of the Appellant.

Assignment of Error Number 6: The trial court erred, and abused its discretion in refusing to conduct a view of the scene of the alleged crimes.

Assignment of Error Number 7: The trial court erred in issuing a post-conviction Sexual Assault Protection Order without authority of law, because the expiration date on the order exceeded the time allowed by law for enforcement of such orders.

#### Issues Relating to Assignments of Error

Issue Number 1: Does a trial attorney provide ineffective assistance of counsel, by failing to interview crucial potential defense witnesses, and failing to subpoena such witnesses to testify in the defendant's behalf? (Assignments of Error 1, 2 and 3)

Issue Number 2: Is it a tactical maneuver by defense counsel to fail to interview and subpoena crucial potential defense witnesses, in a case resting entirely upon the testimony of a ten year old child, when such witnesses can directly contradict and rebut the child's

testimony? (Assignment of Error 1, 2 and 3)

In a trial for Child Molestation in the First Degree and Rape of a Child in the First Degree, is it error for the court to allow an unlicensed counselor to testify as an expert witness, without any showing of expertise, qualifications, nor basis of testimony other than statements by the alleged victim? (Assignment of Error Number 4)

Issue Number 4: In a trial for Child Molestation and Rape of a Child, may an unlicensed counselor testify as an expert concerning common characteristics of abused children, that she believes the child victim, that the child was molested, and that the child was molested by the defendant in the case? (Assignments of Error 4 and 5)

Issue Number 5: Does a trial attorney provide ineffective assistance of counsel, by failing to object to testimony as a purported expert by an unlicensed counselor concerning common characteristics of abused children, that she believes the child victim, that the child was molested, and that the child was molested by the defendant in the case? (Assignments of Error 4 and 5).

<u>Issue Number 6:</u> Does a trial judge abuse his discretion by refusing to undertake a view of the scene of the alleged crimes, in

a case where the both sides presented highly conflicting evidence as to what could be seen, by whom, and from what vantage points in the room of the alleged occurrence? (Assignment of Error 6.)

Issue Number 7: May a Superior Court judge issue a Sexual Assault Protection Order under RCW 7.90.150 for a period of one hundred years, when the statute does not authorize such an order? (Assignment of Error 7.)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 31, 2013, following a bench trial, Appellant Ryan Dee Whitaker was convicted of two counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree. These charges were contained in a Second Amended Information, filed during trial. CP 166.

#### Facts presented at trial:

In 2011, Defendant/Appellant Ryan Dee Whitaker was a member of the St. John's Ward of the Church of Latter Day Saints, located in Vancouver, Washington. RP 468, I. 21-24; p. 469, I. 1-14. Appellant was also a teacher for primary school students, and had a class of approximately 8 students. M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*, the eight year old alleged victim, was a member of the class. RP p. 475, I. 18-24, p. 476, I. 1.

Every Sunday, the students at the church would gather for

instruction in the "Sharing Time Room," which is large meeting room with rows of folding chairs. As many as 60 people would be present during these sessions, including a dozen or more adults, including parents and teachers. People were moving around in the room, engaged in various activities. RP p. 888 I. 6-23

Appellant, known as "Brother Whitaker" to the students, would sit with his class of eight and nine year olds in their assigned two rows of chairs, in the back of the room on the far right side, as viewed from the front of the room. RP p. 1103, I. 19-24.

#### Testimony of alleged victim.

M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\* testified at trial that during the period of January through August, 2011, Appellant would touch her in the Sharing Time Room on her vagina. Her testimony covers several pages, and relates that he would invariably reach behind her chair, come up from behind with his hand, go under her skirt, and touch her vagina. RP P. 482, I. 1-24; p. 483, I. 1-23. Her testimony does not express whether he reached down the waistband of her skirt, or whether he reached clear under her, and came back up through the opening of her skirt. She testified that this touching occurred every Sunday during the classes when other children were in the classroom. RP p. 483, I. 24; p. 484, I. 1- 10.

The touching allegedly continued for the entire 45 minutes of the classes. RP p. 534, l. 1-8, while the classmates sat near each other. RP p. 478, l. 23-24; p. 479, l.1-2.

M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\* testified that <u>every time</u>, Appellant's finger would go into the hole in her private parts. RP p. 487, l. 1-14. She subsequently changed her testimony and said that touching had occurred over her clothes, at a time when the class was singing Christmas songs. RP p. 40, l. 6-12. M\*\*\* was not in a class with Appellant during the Christmas season. He commenced teaching in January, 2011. RP p. 962, l. 7-8.

M\*\*\* also testified that Appellant had touched her one time outside of her clothes, in a different classroom, when just the two of them were present, RP p. 492-494. This alleged incident is apparently the basis for the charge in Count IV, child Molestation in the First Degree. M\*\*\* had told her mother, however, that the touching never occurred anywhere except in the Sharing Time Room. RP p. 615, I. 9-14.

For at least a month, in late July and in August, 2011, another teacher, "Brother Gonsalves," would sit with the class as well. RP p. 846, l. 4-24.

#### **Hearsay Witnesses.**

To bolster the uncorroborated testimony of M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*, the State sought to admit the testimony of the usual parade of RCW 9A.44.120 and other hearsay witnesses.

- 1. The State offered the testimony of Arica S\*\*\*\* and Jason S\*\*\*\*, the child's parents, relating to the first disclosure made to them by M\*\*\* on August 30, 2011. RP p. 18- 23. In this rendition, M\*\*\* told Arica S\*\*\*\* that the touching had happened on her inner thighs. RP p. 18, I. 6-11, and "the front and the back." RP p. 23, I. 17-18.
- 2. The State sought to admit the testimony of a Bishop Mansius, who, on August 31, 2011, along with Arica S\*\*\*\* and Jason S\*\*\*\*, discussed the allegations in front of M\*\*\*, and then questioner her about them. RP p. 75, l. 13-19; p. 76, l. 5-12.
- 3. The State offered the testimony of Cynthia Bull, a detective with the "Children's Justice Center" as to statements made during her interview with M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*. RP p. 165-170.
- 4. The State offered the testimony of Dr. Kim Copeland, a physician who works with the "Children's Justice Center" as to statements made by M\*\*\* in her interview with the child. RP p.107-117.
- 5. Additionally, the State sought to admit the testimony of Danielle Wilcox, an unlicensed counselor, who was not eligible to be

licensed for lack of sufficient education, RP p. 721, I. 12-17. Ms. Wilcox provided "therapy" to M\*\*\*, and was called to testify as to M\*\*\*'s statements to her, under the hearsay exception for statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis, ER 803(a)(4). RP p. 724-730.

After a lengthy pretrial hearing, the court issued rulings concerning the hearsay witnesses listed above. The Court did not enter written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; however, the record indicates that the judge ruled as follows;

- 1. The statements to the parents on August 30, 2011 were admissible. RP p. 429 l. 23-25; 430 l. 1-8.
- 2. The statements on August 31, 2011 to the Bishop and the parents were unreliable and not admissible. RP p. 430, l. 24-25; p. 431, l. 1-15.
- 3. The statements to Cynthia Bull on October 4, 2011 were not in accordance with approved protocols for child interviews, but the circumstances indicated sufficient reliability to allow them into evidence. RP p. 432, I. 9-12.
- 4. The statements to Dr. Copeland were elicited in a manner which rendered them unreliable and not admissible under RCW 9A.44.120. RP p. 432, I. 17-25; p. 433, I. 1-14. Further, they were

not made for purposes of medical diagnosis, and not admissible under ER 803(a)(4). RP p. 453, l. 10-20.

5. The statements to Danielle Wilcox did not satisfy the requirements of ER 803(a)(4) and were not admissible. RP. p. 737, l. 10-25; p. 738, l. 1-20.

#### State's Expert Witness.

As discussed below, however, the trial judge allowed Ms. Wilcox to assume the role of expert, and she proceeded to provide testimony on the characteristics of abused children, and how those characteristics were present in M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*, and on the credibility of M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*. RP. p. 762-767.

#### Other Witnesses.

During trial, both sides called dueling witnesses as to what could be seen, by whom, and from what vantage point in the courtroom. These included State's witnesses, who testified that people in the Sharing Time Room could not necessarily see what was happening in the last row of chairs:

- a. Ashley Denton RP p. 692-693; p. 704-707;
- b. Tammy Copes, RP p. 1083-1087;
- c. Arianna Pierce, RP 1106-1110.

The defense called "site view" witnesses who in general

testified that Appellant's location and activities could be seen by others in the room:

- a. Steven Gonsalves RP p. 853-854;
- b. Laurie Ogden RP p. 895-899;
- c. Pamela Wise RP p. 923-931;
- d. Paul Pecora RP p. 1042-1045;
- e. Michelle Pecora RP p. 1061-1063.

Brother Gonsalves testified that he never saw anything inappropriate, and that it would be impossible for Appellant to have touched M\*\*\* in the way she described without him or someone else seeing him. RP p. 861. His ability to observe, however was limited to late July and August of 2011.

The sessions in the Sharing Time Room lasted 45 minutes each Sunday, and involved around sixty persons, including ten to twelve adults, teachers, and parents being in the room, engaged in various activities. RP p. 634, I. 5-9. People were coming and going through the Sharing Time Room at various times. RP p. 913, 914.

Appellant's students and Brother Gonsalves all sat together in the same two rows. RP p. 921 18-20; p. 847 l. 23-24.

The other students sitting near to Appellant and to M\*\*\* S\*\*\*\*

included K\*\*\*\*\* C\*\*\*\*\*, K\*\*\*\*\*\* O'\*\*\*\*\*\*, and J\*\*\*\*\*\* K\*\*\*\*\*. RP p. 843, I. 7-11.

These three children were the only witnesses who were in a position to accurately see what was going on in the last two rows of the classroom, throughout the entire period of January through August, 2011. None of these three children were subpoenaed by the defense to testify. See Declaration of Josephine Townsend, attached to Personal Restraint Petition.

#### **Request for View**

Defense counsel requested that the court adjourn to the site of the alleged crimes, and view the scene itself. The Court refused. RP p. 1124, l. 1-15; p. 1125.

#### Verdicts and Sentence.

The Court found Appellant not guilty on Count I, Rape of a Child in the First Degree. Further, the court found Appellant not guilty on Count II, Child Molestation in the First Degree, which apparently was charged as some sort of a lesser included offense under count I. CP 225.

The Second Amended Information, CP 166, fails to state that counts I and II were occasions separate and distinct from each other, although this language occurs in the charging language of

counts III and IV.

The Court found Appellant guilty on Count III, Child Molestation in the First Degree, apparently based upon the testimony of sexual touching in the Sharing Time Room, and guilty on count IV, apparently based upon the alleged touching in the other classroom, although the court did not specify which incident related to which count.

On March 5, 2013, the court sentenced appellant to a minimum of 89 months in prison, the high end of the standard range, and a maximum sentence of life imprisonment. CP 208.

The Court also imposed a Sexual Assault Protection Order to be effective for 100 years. CP 262.

Further pertinent facts will be addressed in the argument on the merits below.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### 1. ARGUMENT ON ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBER 1, 2 AND 3, AND ISSUES NUMBER 1 AND 2, INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCEOF COUNSEL

Appellant incorporates his Motion to Consolidate his Personal Restraint Petition filed in this court. The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel requires supplementation of the appellate record. The argument below is premised upon the appellate court granting the Motion for Consolidation.

Appellant assigns error to each of Findings of Fact numbers 1, 2, and 3. CP 225. It is reasonably likely that each Finding of Fact was the product of constitutional error occurring at trial, due to ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### Finding of Fact number 1 reads:

"Between January 1, 2011 and August 31, 2011, the defendant was a Sunday school teacher in the Church of Latter Day Saints, St. John's Ward. M.L.S. was a female child in the defendant's class during that time. On or between those dates, the defendant massaged the vagina of M.L.S with his hand on at least two occasions."

Finding of Fact number 2 reads:

On at least one occasion, the defendant touched M.L.S. in the larger "sharing time room." The defendant would often have M.L.S. sit with him in the back row of the classroom. When he would touch her, he would use his jacket to hide his actions, either putting it across their laps, or behind her. He then massaged her vagina and buttocks with his hand. He massaged her vagina and buttocks over her tights, and under her clothing, on her skin."

Finding of Fact number 3 reads:

"Another incident occurred in the smaller classroom. The defendant had asked M.L.S. to stay behind to run an errand for him. When they were alone, he knelt in

front of her. He asked her why she wasn't wearing her tights that day. He proceeded to massage her vagina with his hand over her dress. He asked M.L.S. if it made her feel uncomfortable when he would touch her. This incident prompted M.L.S. to tell her mother."

Appellant assigns error to these Findings of Fact, because they were the result of a flawed prosecution and defense.

Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial, and the trial court committed other reversible errors.

The right to counsel in a criminal case is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, incorporated into State prosecutions by the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause, and is contained in the Washington State Constitution, Article I, Section 22:

"RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED. In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel..."

This right is violated when a defendant is convicted of a crime, as a result of receiving ineffective assistance of counsel.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove both that his trial attorney's representation was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced his defense. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

In determining whether a defendant has met the first prong of this test, "scrutiny of counsel's performance is highly deferential and courts will indulge in a strong presumption of reasonableness."

Id. at 226. Therefore, trial conduct that can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics cannot form the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). If the defendant meets the first burden, the second prong requires the defendant to show only a "reasonable probability" that the outcome of the trial would have been different absent the attorney's deficient performance. State v. Thomas, supra.

With all due respect to diligent and thorough trial counsel, certain egregious errors were made which denied Appellant a fair trial. Most glaring of these errors is the failure of defense counsel to present exculpatory evidence to the court. Bearing in mind that this was a case hinging entirely upon the uncorroborated testimony

of a ten year old girl, concerning events that were almost, by any objective standard of review, very puzzling and unlikely, presentation of all exculpatory evidence was essential.

Appellant, a 57 year old attorney and teacher, was accused of putting his hand down the clothing of the child while she was sitting in a chair next to him, in a room full of approximately 60 people, including 10 to 15 adults, while other children and even one adult were sitting next to him and the alleged victim in the row of chairs, mere feet away. The victim claimed that this occurred every Sunday for an eight month period, for 45 minutes per session.

The evidence of who could see what, and from where in the room, was contested by the diametrically opposed testimony of defense witnesses and prosecution witnesses. What is uncontested, however, is that despite the ability of adults throughout the room to see or not see what was transpiring, there were three witnesses who sat in the same rows as the crimes were alleged to occur. These child witnesses were K\*\*\*\*\* C\*\*\*\*\*, J\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

K\*\*\*\*\*\*, and K\*\*\*\*\*\*\* O'\*\*\*\*\*\*\*. These witnesses each gave interviews to Cynthia Bull, the investigating officer, who, either despite of, or because of the fact that they were exculpatory, excluded them from

her police report. RP p. 792-825. The interviews were, however, made available to defense counsel in the form of CD recordings, (exhibits 41, 42, and 43.) Transcripts of these interviews, demonstrating the exculpatory value of the testimony available from these witnesses, have been included in Mr. Whitaker's Personal Restraint Petition filed contemporaneously with this appeal.

The Personal Restraint Petition of Mr. Whitaker presents evidence addressing both prongs of the test for reversible ineffective assistance of counsel, which is addressed and incorporated herein.

Also, a review of the record of the trial itself clearly demonstrates that defense counsel at trial desired to have the contents of the three witnesses interviews presented to the court. This was not a case of a tactical decision to refrain from interviewing or calling a witness at trial.

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