NO. 44842-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

RYAN DEE WHITAKER, Petitioner

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 11-1-01948-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND RESPONSE TO PERSONAL
RESTRAINT PETITION

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

226. M.S. testified that the other kids didn't see what was happening. RP 484. On another occasion Whitaker asked M.S. to stay behind and help him in the smaller classroom. RP 492, CP 226. When they were alone, the defendant knelt in front of M.S. and asked her why she wasn't wearing tights that day. CP 226. M.S. testified the question made her feel weird. RP 492. While kneeling in front of her he massaged her vagina with his hand over her dress. CP 226. He asked her if it made her uncomfortable when he touched her. CP 226. It was this incident that prompted M.S. to tell her mother what was happening to her. CP 226. M.S. disclosed the molestation to her mother in August 2011. CP 226. The defendant claimed that during this incident in the small classroom, he was preparing to hand M.S. a CD player and as he set it on the table the cord started to unravel and fall. In an effort to stop this he slid his hand down the cord which made it swing more, eventually hitting M.S. on her front near her waist. RP 993. He testified he asked her if she was embarrassed by it and she just shrugged. RP 993. He agreed that this particular Sunday was his last day at the church. RP 994.

Ashley Denton was the primary president at the St. John's Ward during this time. RP 667. She explained that the adults would sit with their assigned classes and there would be about fifteen adults in the sharing room at any given time. RP 670-71. The attention of people in the room

was upfront. RP 672. There was a period of time in which the defendant was the only teacher assigned to M.S.'s class. RP 674. While in the sharing room she observed that the defendant sat in the back and that M.S. was frequently sitting with him. RP 678. On one occasion in July 2011, Ms. Denton asked the kids to sit on the floor for a story but M.S. stayed in her chair. RP 680. M.S. didn't speak and the defendant said that M.S. was cold and would stay there with him. RP 681. Ms. Denton testified it was unusual for M.S. not to speak in response to a question. RP 681.

Danielle Wilcox testified as an expert witness for the State. RP 762. She is a family and child therapist with the Children's Center. RP 720. She was M.S.'s counselor following her disclosure of sexual abuse. RP 724. She has a Master's Degree in Counseling Psychology from Lewis and Clark College and is a registered counselor in the state of Washington. RP 721. At the time of her testimony she was not yet a licensed therapist because she hadn't yet completed the required number of post-graduate hours to be licensed as a therapist. RP 721. Prior to receiving her Master's degree she worked as an intern therapist in order to gain clinical experience. RP 722. At the Children's Center she works with children who have been sexually abused or experienced trauma in their past. RP 722. Ms. Wilcox received specialized training in treating children who have suffered sexual abuse. RP 723. She was permitted to offer an opinion

about whether M.S. expressed feelings that were consistent with someone who experienced a traumatic event such as sexual abuse. RP 758. She was not permitted to testify about any statements M.S. made or offer an opinion that M.S. was, in fact, sexually abused. RP 758.

This case was tried before the Honorable Robert Lewis, the defendant having waived his right to a jury trial. At the close of the case Judge Lewis found the defendant guilty of two counts of child molestation in the first degree, counts III and IV. CP 225-28. This timely appeal followed. CP 233.

C. ARGUMENT¹

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING DANIELLE WILCOX TO PROVIDE EXPERT TESTIMONY WHERE WHITAKER DID NOT OBJECT BELOW TO THE ERRORS HE NOW COMPLAINS OF ON APPEAL.

Whitaker's complaints in issue number three are quite disorganized and difficult to follow. He appears to make two complaints: That Danielle Wilcox was not a qualified expert and that her testimony was based upon principles that are not generally accepted in the scientific community. Whitaker failed to object on these bases below. The objections lodged by Whitaker below were that he allegedly didn't know that Ms. Wilcox might be called both as an expert witness and a fact witness, and that her

¹ The State's response to Assignments of Error 1 and 2 are contained in the response to the personal restraint petition.

proffered testimony was inadmissible opinion testimony because it was repackaged “sexual abuse syndrome” testimony which has been held inadmissible under *Frye*.² When the court clarified that Ms. Wilcox would not be permitted to offer “sexual abuse syndrome” testimony or make a diagnosis of sexual abuse, nor was the State proffering such testimony, Whitaker did not make a *Frye* objection to the testimony that would be permitted, to wit: whether M.S. had feelings that were consistent with someone who had experienced trauma, such as sexual abuse. Further, Whitaker did not accept the court’s invitation to revisit the issue at the conclusion of Ms. Wilcox’s testimony if he felt that her testimony exceeded the permissible scope. RP 761, 776.

Whitaker waived these arguments on appeal by not making specific objections below on the bases he now raises. “Failure to object to the admissibility of evidence at trial precludes appellate review of that issue unless the alleged error involves manifest error affecting a constitutional right.” *State v. Florczak*, 76 Wn. App. 55, 72, 882 P.2d 199 (1994), citing *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wash. App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992); *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wash. App. 478, 485–86, 794 P.2d 38, review denied, 115 Wash.2d 1025, 802 P.2d 128 (1990). “Such error is not

² *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

created by the failure to lay an adequate foundation under *Frye*.” *Florczak* at 72. This claim fails.

IV. MS. WILCOX DID NOT TESTIFY THAT SHE BELIEVED M.S. WAS MOLESTED, OR THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY. SHE DID NOT OFFER IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY, AND WHITAKER HAS NOT PRESERVED THESE CLAIMS FOR APPEAL.³

Ms. Wilcox testified during the offer of proof that for purposes of treating her patient, when a child tells her they’ve been abused she believes the child RP 732. This information was elicited by Whitaker. *Id.* He did not object to this testimony (that he elicited) and has waived his right to complain of it on appeal, as argued in part III, above. RP 732. He elicited this testimony for the tactical reasons of showing bias and the unreliability of Ms. Wilcox’s opinion. Moreover, this portion of Ms. Wilcox’s testimony was not incorporated as trial testimony. At the beginning of Ms. Wilcox’s trial testimony the prosecutor asked defense counsel if she would stipulate to Ms. Wilcox’s prior testimony (during the offer of proof) about her *qualifications*. Defense counsel said she would “stipulate to her previous testimony.” RP 762. The court then ruled that the prior testimony could be “transferred” from the hearing to the trial.

³ Although Whitaker melds Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 3 and 4 under number 2 of his argument sections, it is far clearer to simply respond to the issues as they are identified in the Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error section. That is how the State organized its response.

However, the context of this conversation centered upon Ms. Wilcox's professional qualifications. Because the trial court declined, following the offer of proof, to allow Ms. Wilcox to testify about statements M.S. made to her during treatment, much of her offer-of-proof testimony would be irrelevant at the trial. It is therefore unlikely the parties and court intended for the entirety of Ms. Wilcox's offer of proof testimony to be incorporated into the trial as substantive evidence. The more accurate reading of the record, and the conclusion the State urges this Court to make, is that the only portion of Ms. Wilcox's offer-of-proof testimony that was incorporated as trial testimony was the portion in which she outlined her education, qualification and professional experience. As such, the testimony in which Ms. Wilcox supposedly stated that the victim was truthful was not a part of the trial testimony. It was not evidence. Even if an objection was made to this testimony below, it is of no consequence because this testimony was not offered during the trial.

Whitaker's second assertion, that Ms. Wilcox expressed her personal opinion that Whitaker molested M.S., is unsupported by the record. The testimony Whitaker now complains of, found at pages 774-75, constituted M.S.'s expression to Ms. Wilcox of why she felt betrayed, not Ms. Wilcox's personal view of Whitaker's guilt. Ms. Wilcox was aware

that M.S. had accused her Sunday school teacher of touching her sexually and she treated her based upon that premise. As she stated during her offer-of-proof testimony, it is not her job to investigate. RP 732. In any event, Whitaker did not object to this testimony and has waived any objection to it on appeal, as argued above.

Whitaker's third complaint under this Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error is that Ms. Wilcox should not have been permitted to testify about the common characteristics of abused children. Because Whitaker jumbled his arguments in support of issues III and IV together in his brief, the State responded to this argument in Part III, above. As noted in Part III, Whitaker did not specifically object to this testimony.

Whitaker's trial objection was based on his concern that Ms. Wilcox was going to offer testimony on "sexual abuse syndrome" and that she was going to testify that she diagnosed M.S. as having suffered sexual abuse. When the trial court made it clear that Ms. Wilcox would not be allowed to offer such testimony and opinion, and would only be permitted to testify whether M.S. had feelings that were consistent with someone who had experienced trauma, such as sexual abuse, Whitaker did not lodge a specific objection to this testimony. Further, as noted above, Whitaker did not accept the court's invitation to revisit the issue at the conclusion of Ms. Wilcox's testimony if he felt that her testimony exceeded the

permissible scope. RP 761, 776. Whitaker has waived this claim on appeal.

V. WHITAKER WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS ATTORNEY CHOSE NOT TO OBJECT TO MS. WILCOX'S TESTIMONY, AND THE CLAIMED ERROR IS NOT MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR.

The first claim Whitaker makes under this Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error is that Danielle Wilcox offered an opinion about the credibility of M.S. and that the opinion invaded the province of the trial court, and that this error is manifest error affecting a constitutional right that he should be permitted to raise for the first time on appeal. Yet he doesn't state what portion of Ms. Wilcox's testimony constituted an opinion on M.S.'s credibility and doesn't cite to the record. See Brief of Appellant at pages 39-40. Is he referring to the portion of Ms. Wilcox's testimony in which she said she accepts the claim of her patient as true in order to provide treatment and that she doesn't independently investigate the claim? (See RP at 732). As noted above, this testimony was not part of the trial. It was part of an offer of proof. Second, this testimony was elicited by Whitaker in an effort to portray Ms. Wilcox as biased and to call into question the validity of any opinion she might offer. This error

was invited and cannot be deemed manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

“The general rule in Washington is that a party’s failure to raise an issue at trial waives the issue on appeal unless the party can show the presence of a ‘manifest error affecting a constitutional right.’” *State v. Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 292 (2011), quoting *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009) and *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The rule requiring issue preservation at trial encourages the efficient use of judicial resources and ensures that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. *Robinson* at 305, *McFarland* at 333; *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). “[P]ermitting appeal of all unraised constitutional issues undermines the trial process and results in unnecessary appeals, undesirable retrials, and wasteful use of resources.” *Robinson* at 305.

As explained in *McFarland*, supra RAP 2.5 (a) (3) is “not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court.” *McFarland* at 333. In order to obtain review under RAP 2.5, the error must be “‘manifest,’—i.e. it must be ‘truly of constitutional magnitude.’” *Id.*; *State v. Scott* at 688. To be deemed manifest

constitutional error, a defendant must identify the error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights. *McFarland* at 333. "It is not enough that the Defendant allege prejudice—actual prejudice must appear in the record." *Id.* at 334. Here, no actual prejudice appears in the record.

First, Ms. Wilcox's testimony was not erroneous. She did not offer an opinion on the credibility of M.S. or on the guilt of Whitaker. "Admission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without objection, is not automatically reviewable as a 'manifest' constitutional error. 'Manifest error' requires a nearly explicit statement by the witness that the witness believed the accusing victim. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn. 2d 918, 936, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). What Ms. Wilcox essentially said in her non-trial testimony was that she had no reason to assume her patient was lying to her to procure treatment she didn't need; that people who voluntarily come to her for help presumably need that help and don't fabricate a treatment motive. She acknowledged she would have no way of knowing whether the underlying accusation was true and that she is not an investigator.

Second, even if improper, there is no danger that the error actually affected the defendant's rights. This was a bench trial, not a jury trial. In *State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 244-45, 53 P.3d 26 (2002), the Supreme

Court held the admission of irrelevant testimony does not warrant reversing a conviction in a bench trial because the reviewing court “presumes the trial judge did not consider inadmissible evidence in rendering the verdict.” The Court cited *Harris v. Rivera*, 454 U.S. 339, 346, 102 S.Ct. 460 (1981), which held “[i]n bench trials, judges routinely hear inadmissible evidence that they are presumed to ignore when making decisions.” The Court also relied on *Builders Steel Co. v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue*, 179 F.2d 377, 379 (8th Cir.1950), which held:

In the trial of a nonjury case, it is virtually impossible for a trial judge to commit reversible error by receiving incompetent evidence, whether objected to or not. An appellate court will not reverse a judgment in a nonjury case because of the admission of incompetent evidence, unless all of the competent evidence is insufficient to support the judgment or unless it affirmatively appears that the incompetent evidence induced the court to make an essential finding which would not otherwise have been made.

This presumption can be rebutted by showing that the verdict is based on insufficient evidence, or that the judge “relied on the inadmissible evidence to make essential findings that it otherwise would not have made.” *Read* at 245-46. Whitaker has not made these showings, and thus cannot demonstrate prejudice.

Finally, as noted above, this testimony was not part of the trial evidence and was *elicited by Whitaker* for a legitimate tactical reason.

Whitaker cannot complain about this testimony for the first time on appeal.

The second claim Whitaker makes under this Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error is that he was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to Ms. Wilcox supposedly offering an opinion about the credibility of M.S. and the guilt of Whitaker. As noted above, Ms. Wilcox offered no such opinion. Also as noted above, the portion of the testimony Whitaker complains of was elicited during the offer of proof, not the trial. This testimony was elicited for a tactical reason and did not prejudice Whitaker in this bench trial. Indeed, Whitaker's entire discussion of ineffective assistance of counsel on this issue is devoid of an attempt to show prejudice.

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